SUPREME COURT NO. 29711

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of Joe L. Todd,

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOE L. TODD,

Petitioner.



ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLARK COUNTY

The Honorable Rich Melnick, Judge

### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

LISA E. TABBUT Attorney for Appellant P. O. Box 1396 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 425-8155

##

#### C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals err when it held that there was sufficient proof that Joe Todd committed a recent overt act such that he could be civilly committed under RCW 71.09?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At age fifteen, Mr. Todd walked to his sister's school and escorted her home at the end of the day. His path took him past the home of a four year old boy. Mr. Todd and the boy played together. But it progressed to Mr. Todd touching the boy's genitals and eventually putting his mouth on the boy's penis. After being found out, Mr. Todd was charged and pleaded guilty to indecent liberties with a child less than fourteen years old. Mr. Todd spent a few weeks in custody and had to attend treatment. RP 1A at 52-66; RP 3B at 696.

At sixteen, Mr. Todd found himself attracted to the eight year old brother of a friend. There was an instance when he was in a church bathroom with the 8 year old. Mr. Todd became aroused. He invited the eight year old to touch his erect penis. Some time later, he was at the child's home. The child invited him into a hiding area under the stairs. This aroused Mr. Todd. He masturbated and put the child's hand on his penis. Although Mr. Todd denied any oral-genital contact with the child, he was charged and convicted of rape of a child in the first degree. Mr. Todd received a 20 month sentence. He served the sentence through the Juvenile Rehabilitation Authority (JRA) at Naselle where he took part in sex offender treatment. He continued his treatment at a group home once released from Naselle. RP 1A at 82-90; RP 3B at 696, 700.

After his release Mr. Todd lived in Oregon. RP 1A at 94. In 1997, at age twenty-two, he made a Christmas visit to his mother in Washougal. RP 3B at 696. On the road to Washougal, he wanted sex. He stopped at an adult video store hoping to find a willing male adult partner, but he found the store closed. He was frustrated and continued onto his mother's home.

While staying with his mother, Mr. Todd's old pattern of being sexually aroused by children returned. In one instance, he masturbated an eight year old boy in his home and offended against the same child the next day. After being aroused by his contact with the eight year old, he pulled a six year old boy onto his lap in a nearby park and fondled the boy's penis. That boy told an adult. A police investigation ensued. Without specifically admitting guilt, Mr. Todd told the police, "I need help and I need it bad." RP 1A at 93-106.

Mr. Todd later pleaded guilty to child molestation in the first degree. RP 1A at 93. He told the corrections officer who investigated and wrote the pre-sentence investigation that he had been caught molesting about twelve children between the ages of two and eight. RP 1B at 149. His first sex was with dogs and horses at age 11. RP 1B at 149. He had his first experience with another child at age twelve. In the years since he had been out of custody after his second conviction, he diverted himself from molesting children by instead having oral sex with men, sometimes include multiple partners in just an hour. RP 1B at 150.

While serving his prison sentence, Mr. Todd willfully engaged in all the sex offender treatment offered. RP 1B at 161, RP 3B at 698-700. He learned to identify his risk factors. Those factors included (1) getting depressed, (2) not setting adequate boundaries, (3) being around children, (4) pornography, and (5) allowing himself to feel ashamed for being gay. RP 1B at 163-64.

At Monroe's Twin Rivers in 2007 and 2008, Mr. Todd completed a full year of sex offender treatment. He made steady progress. RP 3A at 606-13. He came to truly understand that by touching children inappropriately, he was victimizing them. RP 3B at 710-13. He came to understand children were never acceptable sex partners. RP 3B at 711. He identified certain unhealthy environments he should avoid including parks, swimming pools, public restrooms, and adult video stores. RP 3A at 630-31.

While in DOC custody, he had two consensual gay relationships with cell mates. Although the relationships were technically forbidden by DOC policy, they were healthy for Mr. Todd in the sense that he finally experienced and enjoyed a physical and emotional relationship with an adult who shared his homosexual preference. RP 3B at 678, 687, 716-19.

When Mr. Todd finished his prison sentence in 2009, he moved to Clark County and was classified as a Level Three sex offender. With the help of his community corrections officer, Anthony Shaver, he found housing. Community Corrections Specialist Mark Chapman also had a hand in Mr. Todd's supervision. He provided sex offender after care to Mr. Todd. RP 1B at 166-174; RP at 2A 322-41.

As a Level Three sex offender, Mr. Todd received close monitoring. Upon his release from DOC he had multiple restrictions

related to his crime and the risk factors identified in his earlier treatment.

RP 1B at 166175; RP 2A at 322-335.

Mr. Todd attended his sex offender group therapy sessions. RP 1B at 174. He contacted both Chapman and Shaver frequently. RP 1B at 175; RP 2A at 337-38. He revealed inappropriate behavior. RP 1B at 183-231; RP 2A at 344-370. He took polygraphs as directed. RP 2A at 269, 303. Wanting sexual contact from men, he masturbated in a Target store bathroom and dropped his pants to the floor in a bathroom stall to signal his interest in sex with men. RP 1B at 183. The Target store incident violated his condition that he only use single-person locked bathrooms and only for when nature called. RP 1B at 184. At one point he went to GI Joe's to buy biking rain gear. There were lots of children in the store. He had feelings of arousal so he left the store. RP 1B at 191. While on a bus, he saw a young man wearing low slung pants that exposed his underwear. This triggered arousal so he got off the bus. RP 1B at 191. Another time on the bus, he heard children's voices. To avoid arousal, he bit his tongue to distract himself. RP 1B at 195. He went swimming in a swimming hole frequented by minors but he avoided any contact with them. RP 1B at 349-52. Each of these incidents caused concern for Mr. Todd's supervisors.

Mr. Todd's first community custody violation was in November 2009. RP 2A at 363. He was sanctioned to 20 days in custody. The violation was for looking at inappropriate websites. RP 2A at 360.

The second violation was in January 2010. Mr. Todd took a polygraph. He admitted to looking at websites featuring men engaged in sexual activity and another website featuring adult men posed to look like young teens. RP 2A at 299-309. Mr. Todd received a 200 days sanction on the second violation. RP 2A at 366-370. The 200 day sanction automatically triggered the filing of a Recent Overt Act Referral (ROAR) which led into the filing of the civil commitment petition. RP 2A at 370-71.

On May 17, 2010, the state filed a RCW 71.09 civil commitment petition. CP 1-2. After consulting with his counsel, Mr. Todd waived his right to a jury trial. CP 3. Mr. Todd's trial was heard on several days in October and November 2011. Both the state and the defense retained experts. RP 2B at 433; RP 4 at 781. Both experts agreed that Mr. Todd was a pedophile. RP 2B at 442-44; RP 4 at 803. The experts disagreed, however, on the likelihood that Mr. Todd would reoffend. RP 2B at 488-552. RP 4 at 852-57.

After hearing all of the testimony, the court took the case under advisement and later issued a memorandum decision finding civil

commitment appropriate beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 4-10. The court's memorandum opinion was revised and filed as findings of fact, conclusions of law, and order of commitment. CP at 11-18.

On appeal, Mr. Todd argued the evidence at trial failed to provide sufficient evidence he committed recent overt acts. See Brief of Appellant. By its unpublished decision filed December 3, 2013, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's finding of sufficiently. See opinion attached as Appendix A. Mr. Todd now seeks review of this decision.

#### E. REASON WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Because the Court of Appeals erred in holding the evidence at trial was sufficient to prove Mr. Todd committed a recent overt act, this court should accept review of its opinion and reverse the civil commitment finding. The Supreme Court will accept a petition for review if it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Civil Commitment is a "massive curtailment of liberty." *In re Harris*, 98 Wn.2d 276, 279, 654 P.2d 109 (1982) (quoting *Humphrey v. Cady*, 405 U.S. 504, 509, 92 S.Ct. 1048, 31 L.Ed.2d 394 (1972). Laws abridging liberty interests violate due process unless they are narrowly tailored to further a compelling state interest. U.S. Const. Amend XIV; *In re Detention of Albrecht*, 147 Wn.2d 1, 7, 51 P.3d 73 (2002).

To involuntarily commit a person under RCW 71.09, the state must prove that the person is a sexually violent predator. *In re Detention of Fair*, 167 Wn.2d 357, 363, 219 P.3d 89 (2009) (citing RCW 71.09.060(1)). To be subject to commitment under RCW 71.09, a person must be "any person who has been convicted of or charged with a crime of sexual violence and who suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder which makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility." RCW 71.09.020(18).

In criminal cases, the due process clause protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime charged, *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). Washington law likewise requires the state to prove each element required for civil commitment of sexually violent predators beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Detention of Turay*, 139 Wn.2d 379, 407, 986 P.2d 790 (1999); RCW 71.09.060(1).

Mr. Todd does not contest having prior convictions for sexually violent offenses as that term is defined at RCW 71.09.020(17).

Additionally, at trial there was sufficient evidence which the court could and did rely on to find Mr. Todd suffers from a mental abnormality. To determine whether the jury's verdict in a RCW 71.09 case is based on sufficient evidence, the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to

the state to determine if it is sufficient to persuade a fair minded rational person that the state has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that the respondent is a sexually violent predator. *In re Detention of Aston*, 161 Wn. App. 824, 829-830, 251 P.3d 917 (2011), *review denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1031 (2012).

"Mental abnormality" means a congenital or acquired condition affecting the emotional or volitional capacity which predisposes the person to the commission of criminal sexual acts in a degree constituting such person a menace to the health and safety of others. 79.090.020(8). The state's expert, Dr. Judd, testified that Mr. Todd had the mental abnormality of paraphilia. RP 2B at 443. Paraphilia is defined as "recurrent, intense, sexually-arousing fantasies, sexual urges or behaviors generally involving (1) non-human objects, (2) the suffering or humiliation of one's self or one's partner or (3) children or other nonconsenting person that occur over a period of at least six months. RP 2B at 443. There are eight categories of paraphilia. Of those eight categories, Mr. Todd was diagnosed with "pedophilis, sexually attracted to males, non-exclusive type." RP 2B at 443-44. Pedophilia means that for a period of at least six months, a person experiences recurrent, intense, sexuallyarousing fantasies, sexual urges or behaviors which generally involve a prepubescent child. Prepubescent generally means thirteen years of age or younger. In additional, the person has acted on the sexual urges or the sexual urges or fantasies have caused them marked distress or interpersonal difficulty. And finally, that the person is at least sixteen years old and at least five years older than the child or children. RP 2B at 445-46. The defense expert, Dr. Wollert, agreed Mr. Todd suffered from pedophalia but disagreed that it was necessarily a mental abnormality. RP 4 at 803.

In addition to the sexually violent offense and mental abnormality elements of RCW 71.09, the United States Supreme Court held that a person must be both mentally ill and dangerous for a civil commitment to be permissible under the due process clause of the U.S. Constitution. *Addington v. Texas*, 441 U.S. 418, 426, 99 S.Ct. 1804, 60 L.Ed.2d 323 (1979). In 1995, the legislature amended RCW 71.09.020 to provide that proof that a person was likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence "must be evidenced by a recent overt act if the person is not totally confined at the time the petition is filed under RCW 71.09.030." Laws of 1995, ch. 216, § 1.

A RCW 71.09 commitment is predicated on current dangerousness. *Albrecht*, 147 Wn.2d at 7. Consequently, a 71.09 petition can be filed against a person "who at any time previously has been convicted of a sexually violent offense and has since been released from

total confinement" only where he has committed a recent overt act. RCW 71.09.030(1)(e); *Albrech*t, 147 Wn.2d at 7-8. A recent overt act is defined as "means any act, threat, or combination thereof that has either caused harm of a sexually violent nature or creates a reasonable apprehension of such harm in the mind of an objective person who knows of the history and mental condition of the person engaging in the act or behaviors." RCW 71.09.020(12).

Mr. Todd's conduct while released on community custody, whether taken individually or cumulatively, does not constitute a recent overt act.

The two RCW 71.09 cases relied upon by the trial court in finding Mr. Todd committed a recent overt act are distinguishable from Mr. Todd's facts. See *In re Detention of Aston*, 161 Wn. App. 824, 251 P.3d 917 (2011), review denied, 173 Wn.2d 1031 (2012) and *In re Detention of Broten*, 130 Wn. App. 326, 122 P.3d 942 (2005), review denied, 158 Wn.2d 1010 (2006).

Aston was released from custody after serving his sentence for first degree rape of a child. First degree rape of a child is a sexually violent offense and Aston did not deny having a mental abnormality. The appellate court found Aston committed a recent overt act on the following facts. Aston told his DOC community custody officer that he would

reoffend if given the opportunity and that he wrote out fantasies about sexually abusing children and masturbated to the fantasies.

Like *Aston*, Broten did not challenge having a conviction for a sexually violent offense against a child (i.e., first degree rape of a child) or having mental abnormality. Broten violated his release conditions by making weekly visits to parks to watch children, dating another sex offender, and having contact with his girlfriend's 15-month-old daughter, and by possessing photos of his own daughter. During a polygraph, Broten also admitted to masturbating while thinking of possible new victims including 5 year-old girls.

Unlike *Aston*, Mr. Todd never made any direct or unequivocal threat to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence. Unlike *Broten*, Mr. Todd did not date a person who put him in direct contact with a minor, or make weekly visits to parks where he could masturbate to visions of his intended future victims.

Instead, Mr. Todd sought to engage in consensual sex with homosexual men, his partners of choice. At times, his movements around the community naturally took him to places where minors could have been – and sometimes – were, such as on a city bus or at a local swimming hole. Although he was inadvertently aroused by minor at times, he did not act on his arousal. And although he viewed some gay-oriented website

with what appeared to be young teens performing sex acts, Mr. Todd did not act on what he saw.

Viewed in the light most favorable to the state, Mr. Todd's acts did not amount to recent overt acts beyond a reasonable doubt. The Court of Appeals erred holding to the contrary.

#### F. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should accept review and reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals.