RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Mar 04, 2014, 3:36 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

NO. 89741-7

RECEIVED BY E-MAII

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of Joe Todd,

Appellant,

v.

State of Washington,

Respondent.

### STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SARAH SAPPINGTON Senior Counsel WSBA #14514 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-2019 OID# 91094



##

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Todd seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(5), arguing that the case involves an issue of substantial public interest. Petition for Review ("Pet.") at 7. This argument fails. There was overwhelming evidence presented at trial that Todd's behavior in December of 2009 and January of 2010 while in the community constituted a recent overt act. Because the issues presented in his petition do not meet either of the specified criteria for review, this Court should deny review.

#### A. Sufficiency Of The Evidence

The criminal standard of review applies to sufficiency of the evidence challenges under the SVP statute. *In re the Detention of Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 744, 72 P.3d 708 (2003). "Under this approach, the evidence is sufficient if, when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id*.

In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, the reviewing court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and the commitment must be upheld if any rationale trier of fact could have found the essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Detention of Audett*, 158 Wn.2d 712, 727-28, 147 P.3d 982 (2006). All reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the appellant. *Id.*, 158 Wn.2d at 727. An appellate court should not second guess the credibility determinations of the fact-finder. *In re the Detention of Halgren*, 156 Wn.2d 795, 811, 132 P.3d 714 (2006).

# B. The State Proved Beyond A Reasonable Doubt That Todd Committed A Recent Overt Act

Because Todd had been released to the community prior to the filing of the SVP petition, the State was required to prove:

- 1. That Todd had been convicted of or charged with a crime of sexual violence; and
- 2. That Todd suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder; and
- 3. That such mental abnormality or personality disorder makes him likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility; and
- 4. That Todd committed a recent overt act while in the community.

RCW 71.09.020(18). A "recent overt act" is defined as "any act, threat, or combination thereof that has either caused harm of a sexually violent

nature or creates a reasonable apprehension of such harm in the mind of an objective person who knows of the history and mental condition of the person engaging in the act or behaviors." RCW 71.09.020(12). Proof thereof is required where, as was the case of Todd, the person has been released to the community after serving the full sentence for the most recent sexually violent offense and is in custody on the day the SVP action is filed for violating the terms of post-release supervision. RCW 71.09.060(1); In re Detention of Albrecht, 147 Wn.2d 1, 10-11, 51 P.3d 73 (2002).

The trial court determined that Todd had committed three sexually violent offenses as defined by RCW 71.09.020(17). F of F Nos. 2, 3 and 4; C of L No. 4. Likewise, the trial court determined that Todd suffers from a mental abnormality in the form of pedophilia. F of F Nos. 5 and 6; C of L No. 5. Todd does not contest these Findings and Conclusions, and as such they are verities on appeal. *In re Estate of Jones*, 152 Wn.2d 1, 8, 93 P.3d 147 (2004). Nor does Todd challenge those Findings that describe Todd's behavior while in the community between May 2009 and January 2010. *See* F of F Nos. 14-18.

What Todd appears to argue is that, despite the presence of a mental abnormality—a condition which, by definition, "affect[s] the emotional or volitional capacity" and "predisposes the person to the

commission of criminal sexual acts"<sup>4</sup>—Todd's behaviors in the community do not create a reasonable apprehension of harm of a sexually violent nature. Todd argues that, despite the fact that he "might" have been "inadvertently" aroused by minors "at times," he "did not act on his arousal," and as such cannot be said to have committed a recent overt act. Pet. at 12-13. This assertion both misapprehends the meaning of the recent overt act doctrine and minimizes the seriousness of Todd's behavior in the community. The evidence presented at trial clearly demonstrated that Todd was engaging in behaviors that both he and experts with whom he had worked had identified as dangerous and related to reoffense. These behaviors were known steps in Todd's offense cycle and created a reasonable apprehension that Todd would have re-offended had the State not intervened.

Dr. Judd, having both reviewed Todd's extensive records and interviewed him, testified that Todd suffers from pedophilia, a condition involving intense sexually arousing fantasies, urges or behavior involving sexual activity with prepubescent children. RP 2B 10/26/11 at 444-46; CP at 12; F of F No 5. Todd's expert, Dr. Richard Wollert, agreed with this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "Mental abnormality" is defined as "a congenital or acquired condition affecting the emotional or volitional capacity which predisposes the person to the commission of criminal sexual acts in a degree constituting such person a menace to the health and safety of others." RCW 71.09.020(8).

diagnosis. CP at 12; F of F No. 5. Dr. Judd testified, and the trial court found beyond a reasonable doubt, that Todd's pedophilia constitutes a mental abnormality that causes him serious difficulty in controlling his sexually violent behavior. RP 2B 10/26/11 at 463; CP at 12; F of F No. 6.

As part of his assessment of Todd, Dr. Judd reviewed Todd's Twin Rivers' Relapse Prevention Plan. RP 3A 10/27/11 at 520-21; Exs. 13, 14 and 15. He explained that the term "offense cycle" refers to the identification of a behavioral chain or factors leading up to an offense. RP 3A 10/27/11 at 520-21. This provides the basis for treatment insofar as treatment will focus on disrupting that chain or intervening in factors that were associated with prior offending. *Id.* at 517-18. The development and understanding of the offense cycle, he explained, is "core to all treatment." *Id.* at 518. Indeed, Dr. Judd testified that, if he saw "an individual that was replicating their identified offense cycle, in terms of their conduct and behavior, I would have concerns about the eminency [sic] in terms of risk or recidivism." *Id.* at 543.

Todd's offense cycle, Dr. Judd testified, is one initially triggered "by feelings of loneliness, isolation, boredom, maybe depression, anxiety." RP 3A 10/27/11 at 522. Such emotions had, in the past, "led into a pattern of sexualized coping in some fashion or another," such as anonymous sex, peeping, voyeurism or exhibitionism." *Id.* These

experiences, Dr. Judd explained, "lea[d] into this particular pattern of conduct and behavior, which can escalate into committing offenses against children or it can remain simply within a sexually compulsive pattern of behavior entailing non-criminal behavior with adult males." *Id.* at 522. After his release into the community on December 16, Todd reported experiencing pronounced emotional distress due to a combination of circumstances: a modification of his medications, a loss of access to certain social supports in the community, and the loss of his job. *Id.* at 526. This stress "clearly" led Todd into "cycle and pattern behavior," initially looking at pornography and then engaging in anonymous sexual behavior with individuals at Taboo Video. *Id.* at 526-27.

Dr. Judd testified that the first evidence that Todd was entering into his offense cycle was the report that Todd was attempting to engage in an act of anonymous sex in a Target bathroom in May of 2009. RP 3A 10/27/11 at 519. Todd indicated that, prior to this incident, he had experienced suicidal thoughts and "pronounced emotional distress" due to various factors, including impending homelessness. *Id.* at 523, 525. Likewise, Dr. Judd testified, Todd's viewing of websites such as "Barely Legal Boys" was an indicator that he was "in cycle." *Id.* at 526-27; 529-30. Viewing such sites "clearly reinforce[ed] Todd's deviant arousal and his cycle," something that Todd himself admitted to Dr. Judd. *Id.* at 529-

30. Todd admitted, even in cases when the "kids" he was viewing were actually adult men who simply looked young, "[t]he arousal was there for someone younger..." *Id.* at 588. Todd, Judd testified, "was engaged in a pattern of conduct that he had identified consistently as being high risk," and "felt that he was out of control" during this period. *Id.* at 586, 588. Given all of this evidence, a rationale trier of fact would have found beyond a reasonable doubt that Todd committed a recent overt act.

Todd also argues that the trial court improperly relied upon In re Detention of Broten, 130 Wn. App. 326, 335, 122 P.3d 942 (2005), and In Re Detention of Aston, 161 Wn. App. 824, 251 P.3d 917 (2011), because the facts of those cases are distinguishable from those in his case. Pet. at 12-13. Both Broten and Aston, however, stand for the proposition that a person engaging in acts or behaviors that form part of their "offense cycle" may be determined to have committed a recent overt act. As the evidence at trial clearly demonstrated that Todd was engaging in behaviors that were—by his own admission—established parts of his offense cycle, the court's determination was correct.

The facts of *Broten* are virtually indistinguishable from those of Todd's case. Broten – a pedophile under DOC supervision in the community – had parked his car in a park near children, in violation of his conditions. The State's expert testified that this behavior was part of

Broten's "offense cycle," or "buildup ... in anticipation of offending." *Broten*, 130 Wn. App. at 335-36. The court concluded that Broten's act of being in his car in a public park near children, "taken together with Broten's mental history, numerous release violations, admission of fantasizing about molesting and raping young girls, and pattern of placing himself in high risk situations in anticipation of causing sexually violent harm," "sufficiently supported a finding that Broten's behavior could cause a reasonable person apprehension that he would reoffend in a sexually violent manner." *Id*.

Todd also attempts to distinguish *Aston* by noting that Todd, "unlike Aston ...never made any direct or unequivocal threat to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence." Pet. at 12. The presence of a direct threat was not, however, the sole basis of the *Aston* Court's decision. The court merely concluded that such statements could reasonably constitute a "threat" under RCW 71.09.020(12). 161 Wn. App. at 834. The court also found that Aston, by "actively writing deviant sexual fantasies about children and masturbating to them" as well as "watching children's movies and masturbating to fantasies about the child actors," had committed an "act" under RCW 71.09.020(12). *Id*. Given Todd's mental abnormality—pedophilia—and his escalating behavior in the community, including masturbating to pornography that appeared to depict adult males

having sex with children, the trial court properly determined that the facts of Aston case were "similar to" those of Todd's case. F of F No. 11.

#### V. **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the State requests that this Court deny review.